Lehigh University Lehigh Preserve

Theses and Dissertations

2016

Working Towards a Normally Off GaN Based MOSHEMT

Mark Dipsey Lehigh University

Follow this and additional works at: http://preserve.lehigh.edu/etd Part of the <u>Electrical and Computer Engineering Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Dipsey, Mark, "Working Towards a Normally Off GaN Based MOSHEMT" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2575. http://preserve.lehigh.edu/etd/2575

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Lehigh Preserve. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Lehigh Preserve. For more information, please contact preserve@lehigh.edu.

Working Towards a Normally Off GaN Based MOSHEMT

by

Mark J Dipsey

A Thesis

Presented to the Graduate and Research Committee

of Lehigh University

in Candidacy for the Degree of

Master of Science

in

Electrical Engineering

Lehigh University

May 2016

©Copyright 2016 Mark Dipsey

All Rights Reserved

This thesis is accepted and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Electrical Engineering.

Date

Nelson Tansu, Ph.D. Thesis Advisor

Filbert J. Bartoli, Ph.D. Department Chairperson

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Professor Nelson Tansu for his knowledge, advice and support in this process. I would also like to thank my housemates Dan, Marc, Joe and John for staying up late with me, providing me with distractions when I needed them, and overall keeping me from going insane. Thank you to Diane Hubinsky in the ECE department for always helping me get everything organized so I could finish this thesis and actually graduate.

And the biggest thanks of course goes to my family for their continued support throughout my entire education, especially my mom to whom I owe everything and could never be half the person I am today without her.

Table of Contents

List of Figures Abstract		vi
		1
1 Introduction and Motivation		2
	1.1 Introduction to GaN	2
	1.2 Motivation for GaN Transistors	3
2	Background and Previous work on GaN HEMTs	6
	2.1 HEMT Structure	6
	2.2 HEMT Gate Oxides – The MOSHEMT	10
	2.3 Mathematical Model of the MOSHEMT	13
3	Top Semiconductor Material Effect on Threshold Voltage	18
	3.1 Choosing the Top Semiconductor Material	18
	3.2 Simulating the AlGaN/GaN versus AlInN/GaN HEMTs	20
4	Adjusting Threshold Voltage with High-k/SiO ₂ Gate Stack	25
	4.1 High-k/SiO ₂ Interface Dipole	25
	4.2 High-k/SiO ₂ Gate Stack Simulations	29
5	Conclusions and Future Directions	34
Bil	Bibliography	
Vita		40

List of Figures

Figure 1: Silicon Transistor Size and Power Consumption [1]	4
Figure 2: Power Outputs Demonstrated in HEMT Structures (94-95 GHz) [2]	5
Figure 3: Conduction Band and Fermi Energy at an AlGaN/GaN Interface	7
Figure 4: Simplified AlGaN/GaN Structure Without and With an Additional GaN Cap Layer	9
Figure 5: Typical HEMT Conduction Band [12]	14
Figure 6: III-V Semiconductor Lattice Constants and Bandgap Energy [20]	19
Figure 7: Example of Atlas MOSHEMT Structure for Simulation	21
Figure 8: Simulated Conduction Band at Zero Bias	22
Figure 9: Typical Simulated MOSHEMT I _d -V _{gs} Curve	23
Figure 10: Threshold Voltage Dependence on Top Semiconductor Material and Thickness	24
Figure 11: High-k/SiO ₂ Interface Dipole Due to Oxygen Migration [24]	28
Figure 12: Threshold Voltage Dependence on Single Oxide Thickness	30
Figure 13: Example of MOSHEMT Structure with High-k/SiO ₂ Stack for Simulatio	n 32
Figure 14: Threshold Voltage for High-k/SiO ₂ Gate Stack	33

Abstract

As the demand for smaller and more efficient electronics continues to grow, the technological advances of silicon begins to plateau. For this reason, researchers have been increasingly interested in other semiconductor materials, such as III-V semiconductors. Gallium nitride has proved to be a particularly useful material and research has gone into development of GaN based transistors, specifically the high electron mobility transistor (HEMT). One of the difficulties of the GaN based HEMT is creating a normally off device, while also limiting gate leakage. This thesis explores design possibilities for a MOSHEMT structure in an attempt to shift the threshold voltage as positively as possible. Specifically, options for the top semiconductor layer are explored and it is shown through TCAD simulations that due to lower spontaneous polarization, AlGaN is optimal for a less negative/more positive threshold voltage. Following this, options for the gate oxide are explored, including the use of multiple oxides. It is shown again through TCAD simulations that due to an electric dipole at the interface between high-k oxides and SiO₂, it is possible to create devices with thresholds shifted closer to a normally off device than with the use of a single gate oxide. All TCAD results are supported by a mathematical MOSHEMT model, and future directions for exploring the possibility of a normally off GaN based MOSHEMT are proposed.

1

1 Introduction and Motivation

1.1 Introduction to GaN

From the beginning of commercialized semiconductor devices, Silicon has been the industry leader and standard. Silicon has been the most researched, cheapest, and in many ways simplest semiconductor to work with. However, as Silicon begins to reach a plateau in terms of possible advancements, research interest has shifted towards the use and fabrication of different semiconductor materials. While Germanium is the only other elemental semiconductor, compound semiconductors can be created by combining two or more nonsemiconductor elements, typically combinations of Group III and Group V elements.

Of these III-V semiconductors, Gallium Nitride (GaN) has proven a particularly useful material. Unlike Silicon, GaN is a direct bandgap semiconductor, meaning the maximum energy of the valance band and the minimum energy of the conduction band (where free holes and electrons are most likely to be found) are aligned with each other in terms of momentum vectors. This allows holes and electrons to be generated and recombined more efficiently, leading to overall higher device efficiency especially with regards to light absorbing/emitting devices such as solar cells and LEDs. The use of GaN and other III-V semiconductors have been the source of incredible innovations such as white LED light bulbs, offering

2

efficiencies significantly higher than previous incandescent or fluorescent bulbs. GaN also exhibits various other differences from Si, such as the fact that it is a polar material, naturally forms in a hexagonal wurtzite crystal structure, has a wide bandgap, and a high operating temperature. These properties make it a particularly interesting and promising material for use in other areas, such as transistors and power electronics.

1.2 Motivation for GaN Transistors

The trend in consumer electronics such as cell phones, computers, tablets, etc. over the years has been defined predominantly by one word: smaller. Consumers have continued to demand smaller electronics with more functionality. This has required engineers to fit increasingly more transistors on integrated circuits, and continually decrease the size of individual transistors. As transistor technology and fabrication techniques have improved, Silicon has been able to keep up with this demand. Unfortunately, as Silicon transistors reduce in size, the amount of leakage currents and therefore static power consumption drastically increases, as illustrated in Figure 1. Static power, which used to be relatively small and could be more or less ignored, has now surpassed dynamic power in terms of overall consumption by a significant factor. Increased static power consumption is of course problematic for overall efficiency of electronics, resulting in limitations in battery life and size, two aspects which are very important to consumers.



Figure 1: Silicon Transistor Size and Power Consumption [1] In order to continue to decrease the size of electronics, while still offering higher efficiency/long battery life, other semiconductor materials must be considered as Silicon reaches its limit. As stated previously, Gallium Nitride, as well as other III-Nitride materials, have a wider bandgap and can offer less leaky transistors. Gallium Nitride also offers the possibility of lower on-resistances, further decreasing overall power consumption. It is for these reasons that research has begun in recent years on creating high efficiency GaN based transistors.

Typical integrated circuits predominantly utilize CMOS technology, relying on field-effect transistors (FETs). It is therefore desirable to create an analogous field-effect device when considering GaN based transistors. One example of this which a great deal of research has gone into is the High Electron Mobility Transistor (HEMT). This type of transistor relies on a two dimensional electron gas (2DEG) at the heterojunction between two different bandgap materials to conduct current between the source and drain. Similar to a MOSFET, a gate voltage applied to a HEMT is used to control the conductivity of this 2DEG. These types of transistors were first introduced in 1980, and have typically been made from other semiconductor materials such as InGaAs/GaAs. In recent years however research has been done on GaN based HEMTs, specifically AlGaN/GaN heterostructures.



Figure 2: Power Outputs Demonstrated in HEMT Structures (94-95 GHz) [2]

The increasing attraction towards this material is due to its wide bandgap, high electron saturation velocity, and high electron concentration produced at the interface each leading to potentially high breakdown voltages, high frequency switch applications, and low on resistances [2]. Figure 2 shows that only 2 years after their commercial introduction, GaN based HEMTs had already far surpassed other materials in demonstrated power capabilities. One of the difficulties that has arisen with this technology which will be further discussed is creating a transistor which is "normally off", also known as an enhancement mode transistor, with low leakages. This type of transistor would mean that if a bias of OV is applied to the gate, the source and drain would not conduct any current and the transistor would have a positive threshold voltage. This thesis therefore discusses previous work on HEMT's as well as explores potential options for the heterojunction and a 2 dielectric gate stack and layer to shift the threshold in a positive direction.

2 Background and Previous Work on GaN HEMTs

2.1 HEMT Structure

The main feature of the HEMT is the 2DEG formed at the interface between two semiconductor materials of differing bandgaps, specifically a wider bandgap material grown on top of a narrower bandgap material. Group III-V semiconductors are obviously formed by 2 or more different elements, leading to a polarized crystal structure, and polarization-induced charge at material interfaces. The combination of spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations creates a spike in the conduction band energy at this interface, dipping below the Fermi level. This spike is shown in Figure 3, which is taken from one of the TCAD simulations discussed later, showing both the conduction band energy as well as the Fermi level for an AlGaN/GaN interface.



Figure 3: Conduction Band and Fermi Energy at an AlGaN/GaN Interface

This spike in the energy band resulting from the polarization charge creates a triangular quantum well near the interface in which a 2DEG is confined [3]. This well for a simple AlGaN/GaN interface is modeled in [3] and shown to have 2 predominant quantized energy states, E_0 and E_1 , calculated using Schrödinger's equation and related to the 2DEG electron density, n_s , as follows:

$$E_0 = 2.123 * 10^{-12} (n_s^{2/3})$$
$$E_1 = 3.734 * 10^{-12} (n_s^{2/3})$$

The interface fixed polarization charge, σ , and sheet electron density of the 2DEG, n_s , as functions of the aluminum mole fraction, x, at an AlGaN/GaN interface are given in [4] by:

$$\sigma = P_{Tot}(GaN) - P_{Tot}(Al_x Ga_{1-x}N)$$
$$n_s(x) = \frac{\sigma}{e} - \left(\frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon(x)}{d_{AlGaN} e^2}\right) [e\Phi_b(x) + E_{C-F}(x) - \Delta E_c(x)]$$

where P_{Tot} is the total polarization (sum of spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations), $\varepsilon(x)$ is the relative permittivity of the $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ layer, d_{AlGaN} is the AlGaN layer thickness, $e\Phi_b$ is the Schottky barrier height at the gate/AlGaN interface, $E_{C-F}(x)$ is the penetration of the conduction band below the Fermi level, and $\Delta E_c(x)$ is the AlGaN/GaN interface conduction band offset. The different energy values are shown in Figure 3. This model could of course be adapted for the interface between essentially any two III-V semiconductor materials.

A positive voltage applied to the gate metal above the AlGaN layer would attract more electrons to the interface, effectively increasing the conductivity of the 2DEG layer. This is analogous to the operation of the gate of a MOSFET affecting the inversion layer. In original HEMT structures, gate leakage currents were controlled and reduced by the Schottky barrier between the metal contact and semiconductor [4,5]. It was found that an additional GaN layer on top of the AlGaN/GaN structure would increase this Schottky barrier and therefore reduce the gate leakage [6]. Source and drain contacts on either side of the gate would then complete the HEMT structure, of which simplified cross sections are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Simplified AlGaN/GaN Structure Without (Left) and With (Right) an Additional GaN Cap Layer

2.2 HEMT Gate Oxides – The MOSHEMT

As mentioned previously, HEMT gates consisted of a Schottky barrier which is what controlled the amount of gate leakage. As it turned out, this barrier was not extremely effective at suppressing gate leakage, especially as devices are scaled down. Therefore in recent years, research has gone into adding an additional insulating layer between the metal gate contact and semiconductor layers. In most cases, the insulators used are oxides, creating a metal-oxide-semiconductor HEMT (MOSHEMT) structure. Unlike Si MOSFETs in which a SiO₂ layer can created through thermal oxidation easily enough, thermal oxidation of Ga to create Ga_2O_3 is very slow for lower temperatures and high temperatures are likely to cause surface damage [7]. Oxide layers are therefore created on GaN based HEMTs through atomic layer deposition (ALD). While this requires a slightly more complex fabrication step, it allows for more options and control over the oxide layer chosen. Al₂O₃ is a frequently chosen oxide used in MOSHEMT devices due to its large bandgap, high breakdown field, high chemical and thermal stability, and ease of deposition [7, 8], although others have been and continue to be explored.

While the MOSHEMT structure is very effective at reducing gate leakage of the device as compared to a HEMT without an oxide layer, it is also accompanied by the undesired effect of a negative shift in the threshold voltage [8-18], which is typically already negative due to the presence of the polarization induced 2DEG at a OV bias. This negative shift is due to additional positive charge at the interface between the oxide and top semiconductor layer. The exact origin of this interface charge is not entirely understood and is seen with different oxide/semiconductor interfaces, but there are theories to help explain it. One theory on a contribution to this charge is the natural polarization of III-V materials inducting charge at the interface, similar to the contribution it makes to the 2DEG. However, a study [15] has shown that regardless of whether GaN is grown with a Ga top face or a N top face, the polarity of the charge seen at the interface with an oxide layer does not change, it remains positive for both. This result suggests that the oxide/III-V semiconductor interface charge does not come from the inherent semiconductor polarization, or at most it makes a negligible contribution, since the polarization charge would be expected to be opposite for oppositely grown semiconductor faces.

Another theorized origin of the oxide/III-V semiconductor interface charge is due to unexpected bonds between the elements of the oxide and semiconductor layers, particularly bonds between the group III elements and oxygen atoms, and other defects. This theory is presented in both [8] and [13]. They present research on atomic layer deposited Al₂O₃ on AlN and GaN. In both cases, a positive charge is seen at the interface between Al₂O₃ and the III-Nitride layer which they attribute to additional Al-O and Ga-O bonds at the interface.

11

Such bonds would effectively result in oxygen atoms substituting nitrogen sites, acting as donor dopants. This would create a positive interface charge and is supported by previous work in which the polarity of N-face GaN was reversed when an AlO_x layer was added [16]. Support for general interfacial defects as the origin of oxide/III-V interface charge come from [14] and [15]. In these studies it was shown experimentally that post metallization annealing was effective at reducing the interface charge between these layers. This supports that defects contribute to the positive interface charge, however a significant charge on the order of 10^{12} - 10^{13} was still seen, demonstrating that surface defects are likely not the only source of charge, as was already theorized.

The final model for the presence of the oxide/III-V interface charge is the presence of energy states at the interface between the oxide and semiconductor conduction bands [8,10,11,12,17,18]. For an interface with density of states D_{it} , there exists a charge neutral energy level E_{CNL} . Levels above the E_{CNL} are acceptor states, and those below are donor states. Energy states above the Fermi level, E_{F0} , are viewed as being void of electrons, while those below the Fermi level are viewed as occupied by electrons. Therefore, if E_{F0} is located below E_{CNL} , there exist donor states which are void of electrons and positively ionized. This is the case demonstrated in [10,11,12,18] and the charge at the interface of the oxide and III-V semiconductor, Q_{it} , could then be calculated as

$$Q_{it0} = D_{it}q(E_{CNL} - E_F)$$
$$Q_{it} = Q_{it0} + D_{it}qV_{gs}$$

where Q_{it0} is the charge at zero gate bias.

2.3 Mathematical MOSHEMT Model

There have been several models generated to represent the HEMT device, and the subsequent MOSHEMT. These models are typically derived from solving Poisson's equation to solve for parameters such as the 2DEG sheet charge concentration. However, in order to better understand how some physical parameters, especially those relating to the oxide layer (thickness, relative permittivity, interface charge, etc.), a different model was created in [12] based on an energy band approach. This approach essentially calculates the various changes in the conduction band energy going through the device from the metal gate contact down to the bottom III-V bulk semiconductor. The model presented in [12] uses an AlGaN/GaN MOSHEMT structure but could be used for virtually any III-V MOSHEMT since the band structure will be unchanged aside from the magnitude of the different variables. In order to generalize the model, in this discussion the oxide layer will be referred to with the subscript "ox", the top semiconductor layer will be referred to with the subscript "top", and the bottom bulk semiconductor will be referred to with the subscript "bott" (e.g. ε_{ox} , ε_{top} , and ε_{bott} would be the permittivity of the oxide, top semiconductor, and bottom

semiconductor respectively). Aside from the changes in subscripts and where otherwise noted, the following mathematical model comes from [12].

As discussed, the core principle of the HEMT's function is the 2DEG created at the interface of the top and bottom semiconductors as a result of a quantum well created in the downward "spike" in the conduction band energy. The entire conduction band for the cross section of the structure is shown below.



Figure 5: Typical HEMT Conduction Band [12]

The key quantity which will determine the functionality of the device is the surface potential at the surface of the bottom semiconductor at the interface with the top semiconductor layer, represented with $\psi(V_{gs})$ as it is a function of the gate voltage. The larger this surface potential is, the larger the quantum well is which means a higher density and more conductive 2DEG. Conversely, when this surface potential drops to zero, the conductive channel of the 2DEG gets pinched off and no current can flow between the source and drain. The gate voltage at which this occurs is known as the flat band voltage (V_{FB}) and is very closely related to the operating threshold voltage of the device. While the threshold voltage and flat band voltage differ slightly, for the purpose of analyzing the effects of various physical parameters, the two voltages can be essentially viewed as the same since an increase or decrease in one corresponds to the same increase or decrease in the other. By simple addition and subtraction of the energy differences (taking note that the difference between E_{FM} and E_F is the negative of qV_{gs}), one can find two independent expressions for the total difference between the top of the vacuum energy level (E_{vac}) and the bottom of the quantum well conduction band (E_{min}),

$$E_{vac} - E_{min} = \phi_M - V_{gs} + \psi(V_{gs}) - \phi_F$$
$$E_{vac} - E_{min} = V_{ox} + \chi_{top} + V_{top} + \Delta Ec/q$$

These two expressions could then be set equal to one another and the surface potential solved for. Additionally, the work function of bottom bulk semiconductor, ϕ_s , is equal to $\chi_{top} + \Delta E_c/q + \phi_F$ and this can be subtracted from ϕ_M to give the difference between the metal and bulk semiconductor work

functions, a common and constant term when discussing these types of

transistors, ϕ_{MS} . This gives an expression for the surface potential of,

$$\psi(V_{gs}) = V_{ox} + V_{top} - \phi_{MS} + V_{gs}$$

where V_{ox} and V_{top} are the voltage drop in the oxide and top semiconductor layers respectively, ϕ_{MS} is the metal-bulk semiconductor work function difference, and V_{gs} is the applied gate voltage.

In order to see the effects of the physical parameters of the oxide and top semiconductor layers, the voltage drops across them must then be expressed in terms of these parameters. The oxide layer can be modeled as a typical MOS capacitor, with capacitance

$$C_{ox} = \varepsilon_{ox}/t_{ox}$$

where ε_{ox} is the oxide layer's permittivity and t_{ox} is its thickness. The voltage across the oxide could then be modeled as with the voltage across any capacitor,

$$V_{ox} = \frac{Q}{C_{ox}} = \frac{Q_{ox} + Q_{it}}{C_{ox}} = \frac{t_{ox}(Q_{ox} + Q_{it})}{\varepsilon_{ox}}$$

where the charge is broken up into the charge spread in the oxide layer, Q_{ox} , and the interface charge between the oxide and top semiconductor, as discussed earlier and calculated with the interface energy state model. The voltage drop across the top semiconductor layer can be expressed in a similar way,

$$V_{top} = \frac{q * \sigma_{pol} * t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}}$$

where σ_{pol} is the sum of the spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization charges, t_{top} is the top semiconductor thickness, and ε_{top} is the top semiconductor permittivity.

Combining the equations for the voltage drops in each layer, the equation for the surface potential, and the equation for the oxide/top semiconductor interface charge yields a final result for the surface potential in terms of physical parameters as,

$$\psi(V_{gs}) = \frac{t_{ox}(Q_{ox} + Q_{it0})}{\varepsilon_{ox}} + \frac{q * \sigma_{pol} * t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}} - \phi_{MS} + \left(1 + \frac{t_{ox}(q * D_{it})}{\varepsilon_{ox}}\right) V_{gs}$$

As stated earlier, the flat band voltage V_{FB} occurs as the surface potential goes to zero. This value can therefore be found by setting the left side of the equation equal to zero and solving for V_{gs} , yielding a flat band voltage of

$$V_{FB} = \frac{\left(\phi_{MS} - \frac{t_{ox}(Q_{ox} + Q_{it0})}{\varepsilon_{ox}} - \frac{q * \sigma_{pol} * t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}}\right)}{1 + \frac{t_{ox}(q * D_{it})}{\varepsilon_{ox}}}$$

This model shows how positive charges at the oxide/top semiconductor interface can further reduce the flat band voltage as suggested previously. If negative charge could be created in the oxide or at its interface, this would aid in counteracting the inherent positive interface charge and shift the flat band and threshold voltages in a positive direction, towards a normally off device [18].

3 Top Semiconductor Material Effect on Threshold Voltage

3.1 Choosing the Top Semiconductor Material

In trying to design and optimize a MOSHEMT, one of the obvious aspects that could be changed is the material used. This can apply to any of the layers, although perhaps the most important would be the top semiconductor layer, as the polarization due to the interface between this layer and the bulk semiconductor is predominately responsible for the formation of the 2DEG. This importance in the mathematical model is seen with the $\frac{q * \sigma_{pol} * t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}}$ term in the expressions for the surface potential and threshold voltage. The material chosen for the top semiconductor layer will determine the values of the total polarization charge at the interface, σ_{pol} , as well as the layer's permittivity, ε_{top} , and the layer's thickness could be adjusted.

In theory, one should be able to choose any semiconductor material for this top layer in order to tweak the performance of the device exactly as desired. In practice however, this is not the case. When creating a heterostructures between two different semiconductors, an important value which must be taken into account is the lattice constant of each. If the semiconductors have different lattice constants, there will be strain induced in the material. This strain is what is responsible for piezoelectric polarization at heterojunctions, but if the strain is too large, dislocations will occur [19]. Dislocations in a semiconductor may have

18

unwanted effects, such as reducing carrier mobility and overall device performance. Therefore, when choosing the material for the top semiconductor layer of a MOSHEMT, only materials with lattice constants relatively close to that of GaN can be used in practice. As shown in Figure 6 taken from Ref. [20], this limits the material options to essentially only AlGaN and AlInN. Compositions of Al_{0.25}Ga_{0.75}N and Al_{0.83}In_{0.17}N give lattice constants close enough to GaN to not cause dislocations, and so these composition fractions will be used and can be assumed for the remainder of this thesis.



Figure 6: III-V Semiconductor Lattice Constants and Bandgap Energy [20]

As mentioned, the two parameters in the MOSHEMT mathematical model determined by the material chosen for the top semiconductor are the permittivity and the induced polarization charge. It has been shown that AlInN exhibits significantly higher spontaneous polarization, as compared to AlGaN, due to the much higher content of aluminum when lattice matched to GaN [10,21]. This would theoretically lead to a higher electron concentration in the 2DEG, which could be useful to allow high current densities [10] and high speed transistors [21]. This however may be a hindrance in trying to create a normally off device, as seen by the increase of the negative $\frac{q * \sigma_{pol} * t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}}$ term in the expression for the threshold voltage associated with an increase in σ_{pol} . In order to further investigate the effect of the top material choice on the device's threshold voltage, simulations were done using TCAD software and discussed in the following section.

3.2 Simulating the AlGaN/GaN versus AlInN/GaN HEMTs

In order to simulate the effects of choosing different materials for the top semiconductor layer of the MOSHEMT, 2 dimensional models were made using the Atlas device simulator created by Silvaco. Along with the Blaze module, this software allows for accurate simulation of the physics of a large library of materials; including binary, ternary, and quaternary semiconductors as well as various oxides. Using the deckbuild environment, a simple, typical MOSHEMT structure was created, an example of which can be seen in Figure 7. This structure consisted of a conductive gate electrode surrounded by a nitride insulator on top. Below this is an oxide layer; 10nm thick SiO₂ was chosen for these simulations although others can be used, the effects of which will be discussed in Chapter 4. The top semiconductor material is below the oxide, the thickness of which was varied from 20nm down to 1nm; and finally bulk GaN extends from the bottom of the top semiconductor layer down to 2um (not fully shown in Figure 7 due to zooming). Conductive source and drain contacts were created on either side of the gate contact, extending down into the GaN bulk where the 2DEG channel would be created. Finally to complete the structure design, a mesh was created to simulate, with the largest amount of nodes/smallest spacing seen of course near the oxide and top semiconductor layers and where the 2DEG would be created.



Figure 7: Example of Atlas MOSHEMT Structure for Simulation

The created structure was then simulated, ensuring calculation of the polarization charge due to both spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization, first for the condition of zero applied bias to any of the contacts. A cut line was made vertically in the center of the device to extract the conduction band energy and Fermi level, as shown in Figure 8. The conduction band energy matches that shown in Figure 5, used to create the mathematical model. This confirms the validity of both the mathematical model as well as the simulation. Furthermore, the conduction band energy spike below the Fermi level indicates the existence of a 2DEG with zero gate bias, meaning the normally on device.



Figure 8: Simulated Conduction Band at Zero Bias

Once the simulation model was validated, the device could be simulated for different biases and the effects of changes to the top semiconductor layer could be viewed. The drain contact was biased at 1V for all simulations, and the gate voltage varied 0 zero to -20V in intervals of -0.05V, with Atlas solving for the DC solution at each bias point. The I_d-V_{gs} curve was then plotted using Tonyplot, an example of which is shown below in Figure 9 for an AlGaN/GaN structure with t_{AlGaN} =10nm.



Figure 9: Typical Simulated MOSHEMT I_d - V_{gs} Curve

The curve of the drain current appeared as expected, showing a negative threshold value and therefore as stated, a normally on device. The effects of using an AlGaN layer versus an AlInN layer were then explored, simulating each as stated previously for thicknesses varying from 20nm to 1nm. The threshold voltage was defined as the gate voltage at which the drain current is equal to 1mA for a drain bias of 1V, and was extracted for each of the simulations run. The results of the threshold voltage dependence on the top semiconductor material and thickness are shown below.



Figure 10: Threshold Voltage Dependence on Top Semiconductor Material and Thickness

The results of the simulation essentially confirm expected results. Looking back at the expression found for a MOSHEMT threshold voltage, the $-\frac{q*\sigma_{pol}*t_{top}}{\varepsilon_{top}}$ term indicates that there should be a negative, linear relation between the top

24

semiconductor thickness and the threshold voltage. This relation is seen in the simulation results and agrees with the results seen in literature [10,12,18]. Furthermore, it was expected that the higher aluminum content in AlInN would lead to a significantly higher spontaneous polarization charge [10,21], which would be expected to cause a more negative threshold voltage as compared to AlGaN. This expectation can also be seen and confirmed by the simulation results which show an AlInN/GaN threshold voltage about 7-12V lower than the AlGaN/GaN threshold voltage depending on thickness. While the AlInN/GaN device has been reported to potentially offer advantages such as high switching speeds and sheet carrier density [21]; it can be concluded that for the efforts of working towards a normally off device, an AlGaN top semiconductor layer seems to be the more desirable material.

4 Adjusting Threshold Voltage With High-K/SiO₂ Gate Stack

4.1 High-k/SiO₂ Interface Dipole

The other negative term in the expression for the MOSHEMT threshold voltage is the one relating to the oxide layer, $-\frac{t_{ox}(Q_{ox}+Q_{ito})}{\varepsilon_{ox}}$. Therefore it seems obvious that changes to the oxide layer could change the threshold voltage of the device, and potentially help in working towards a normally off device. Of course one change that could be made is the specific oxide used for the gate. Going a step further however, it is also possible to use multiple different oxides layered in the gate. Typically, since the gate oxide is modeled as a capacitor, the use of multiple oxide layers would be modeled as multiple capacitors in series with one another with the capacitance of each determined by the individual oxides used. When the oxide stack consists of a high-k dielectric, such as Al_2O_3 or HfO_2 , combined with SiO_2 however, an additional effect is seen. This additional effect is the formation of an electric dipole at the high-k/SiO₂ interface [22-25].

There have been several theories proposed to explain the existence of this electric dipole. One theory presented in [22] is based on the band line up and existence of dielectric contact induced gap states (DCIGS). This theory suggests the existence of energy states at the interface between the oxides, similar to the theory for the charge at the oxide/semiconductor interface. According to this theory, the charge neutral levels (CNL) of the two oxides are different before contact. When the oxides are joined, electrons are transferred either to or from the SiO₂ to equalize the CNL and Fermi level at either side of the interface. This transfer of electrons results in a voltage difference, or dipole, across the interface. The magnitude and direction of this dipole is therefore determined by the difference between the separate oxides' CNLs. While this model has been shown to match up with some experimental results [22], it is not sufficient to explain all

26

experimental results, such as why a dipole is not seen at a high-k/high-k interface [23,24].

A deeper theory for the origin of the high- k/SiO_2 dipole is given by [23] explaining its formation on a molecular level. This theory suggests that the dipole is a result of an areal density difference of oxygen atoms. When the high-k oxide and SiO₂ are brought together, the difference in oxygen atom densities results in a movement of oxygen atoms from the higher density to lower density material at the surface. This would result in negatively ionized oxygen in the material which had a lower areal density, and a net positive charge due to oxygen vacancies in the material which had a higher areal density. This would again mean a dipole at the interface, the magnitude and direction of which would depend on the areal density difference between the two. When the ratios of areal densities between SiO₂ and different high-k oxides are compared to experimental results of flat band voltage shifts in such structures, the results match up very well, strongly supporting this theory [23,24,25]. The lack of a dipole at high-k/high-k interfaces is also suggested by this theory. SiO₂ has highly covalent bonds, while high-k oxides tend to have much closer packed ionic metal-oxide bonds. The deformation of the SiO₂ covalent bonds would result in a much higher driving force for the migration of oxygen atoms than the ionic bonds in high-k oxides.

27



O⁻: Oxygen ion V_O⁺: Oxygen vacancy

Figure 11: High-k/SiO₂ Interface Dipole Due to Oxygen Migration [24] This theory was very recently further supported by [24] in which classical molecular dynamic simulations were performed for various high-k/SiO₂ interfaces. In these simulations, the migration of atoms was seen, and led to the formation of silicate layers at the interface. It was suggested that in high-k dielectrics with lower oxygen densities, the migration of metal ions to the SiO₂ layer may also be responsible for the dipole formed. Regardless of which atoms migrate however, this theory/model provides several important facts with regard to the effects it may have on a threshold voltage. The first of these is once again that no dipole is formed at the interface of two high-k oxides. A second is that the dipole formed and subsequent shift in threshold voltage is relatively independent of the thickness of the oxide layers, assuming they are at least thick enough for the formation of the interfacial silicate layer. Finally, the migration of atoms could be increased at higher temperatures [24], which means although it has not been

experimentally shown, the dipole induced threshold shift could be increased by thermal annealing.

4.2 High-k/SiO₂ Gate Stack Simulations

Similar to in chapter 3, the effects of different and multiple oxide layers were investigated through the use of simulations with the Atlas software. This study specifically investigated SiO₂, Al₂O₃, and HfO₂ since Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ are the only high-k dielectrics shown to induce a positive dipole induce threshold voltage shift when combined with SiO₂ [23,24]. Using the same general setup as in Chapter 3, simulations were first run for single oxide gates of varying thickness. AlGaN was chosen as the top semiconductor layer, as it was determined to be most desirable. Each of the oxides was varied in thickness from 10nm down to 0nm. The drain was again biased at 1V and the threshold voltage was defined as the gate voltage at which the drain current equaled 1mA. The results of this simulation are shown below.



Figure 12: Threshold Voltage Dependence on Single Oxide Thickness The results for the single oxide layer show a negative linear relation between threshold voltage and oxide thickness for each of the three oxide layers. SiO₂ shows the greatest negative shift with increasing thickness, while HfO₂ shows the least negative shift. These results match very well with the results seen in [11,14,18]. Furthermore, the results can be explained by the expression for threshold voltage derived in Chapter 2. This expression contains the term $-\frac{t_{ox}(Q_{ox}+Q_{ito})}{\varepsilon_{ox}}$. This clearly agrees that there should exist a negative linear relationship with oxide thickness. It also shows that oxides with a higher

permittivity should show less of a negative shift in threshold voltage than those with a smaller permittivity. Seeing as the relative permittivities of SiO₂, Al₂O₃, and HfO₂ are about 3.9, 9.1, and 25 respectively [26], the fact that SiO₂ shows the most negative shift and HfO₂ shows the least negative shift also agrees with the mathematical model. This information suggests that using an HfO₂ layer would be the best choice for attempting to create a normally off MOSHEMT device. However as discussed in the previous section, the use of a high-k/SiO₂ stack would create a dipole induced threshold voltage shift, which could prove to provide a threshold voltage even closer to a normally off device.

As mentioned earlier, the best theory for the formation of the high-k/SiO₂ interface dipole comes from the migration of oxygen (or metal) atoms to or from the SiO₂ layer [23,24]. This should create a dipole and subsequent threshold shift independent of layer thicknesses. Simulations were run for MOSHEMT structures with both an Al₂O₃/SiO₂ and an HfO₂/SiO₂ gate stack. The Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stack was not considered as no dipole is formed as such a high-k/high-k interface [23] and such a stack should therefore not be able to achieve a threshold any more closer to positive than either individual oxide.



Figure 13: Example of MOSHEMT Structure with High-k/SiO₂ Stack for Simulation

The Al₂O₃/SiO₂ and HfO₂/SiO₂ interfaces were experimentally determined to generate dipole induced flat band voltage shifts of 0.55V and 0.3V respectively [25]. These shifts were modeled in the TCAD simulations as sheet charges corresponding to the same shift. The simulations were then run for various thicknesses of the oxides. In order to compare, the sum of the two oxides was kept at a constant 10nm. The thickness of the silicate layer found to be produced in [24] was found to be 0.27nm, and so this was assumed to be the minimum thickness of either oxide required to attain the same dipole and threshold shift. Therefore, the thickness of the high-k oxide in each was varied from 0.27-9.73nm, with the SiO₂ thickness equaling 10-t_{high-k} nm. The results of these simulations are shown below and compared to the thresholds of the single oxide devices.



Figure 14: Threshold Voltage for High-k/SiO₂ Gate Stack

Although the AI_2O_3/SiO_2 interface had a larger dipole, it is seen that when the SiO_2 layer thickness is reduced, the HfO_2/SiO_2 gate stack can attain a less negative voltage, surpassing that of the HfO_2 single layer device of the same thickness. If total oxide thickness is further reduced, it seems logical that the threshold voltage would shift even more positively in comparison and may even be able to reach or surpass the threshold seen with no gate oxide. This is a very important finding, that it may be possible through the use of a high-k/SiO₂ stack to negate the

negative threshold shift seen as a result of adding an oxide layer, while still maintaining the leakage reduction of the oxide.

5 Conclusions and Future Directions

This thesis has discussed the physics and models related to gallium nitride based metal oxide semiconductor high electron mobility transistors. It then went on to explore the different design options for the top semiconductor layer as well as the oxide layer in an attempt to move towards a normally off device. With regards to the top semiconductor layer, it was shown that the use of AlInN shifts the threshold voltage negatively as compared to AlGaN, and therefore if a normally off device is desired then AlGaN would be the better material. In the study of oxide layers, three oxides were considered; SiO₂, Al₂O₃, and HfO₂ as well as the Al_2O_3/SiO_2 and HfO_2/SiO_2 stacks. For this it was found that HfO_2 provides the overall least negative threshold voltage, however it can be combined with a thin SiO₂ layer to further shift the threshold voltage in a positive direction. Other oxides could be explored, however high-k/high-k interfaces do not benefit from any dipole formation, and Al_2O_3 and HfO_2 are the only high-k oxides predicted to create a positive threshold shift based on the best theory for the interface dipole formation [23,24].

Moving forward, the results attainted from the mathematical model and simulations presented in this thesis should of course be confirmed experimentally. To this end, there are several factors that may affect the experimental device performance which are related to but outside the scope of this thesis. One of these factors is simply fabrication quality. Much of what was presented in this thesis is dependent on particular surface charges and interactions between layers of different materials. These can be greatly affected by things such as defects during fabrication which may degrade device performance. If however particular defects can be purposefully created, such as additional negative charge being presented in the oxide layer or at its interface, it is possible this will improve the device, as such defects would assist in positively shifting the threshold voltage. In general however, care must be taken during fabrication to avoid unwanted defects in what is likely to be a sensitive device.

Another area which could be explored in future work is the use of thermal annealing and its effects on device performance. It has been mentioned that other work has shown post metallization annealing to be beneficial in positively shifting the threshold voltage of HEMT devices by reducing the oxide/semiconductor interface charge [14,15]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that increased temperatures could increase the migration of atoms at a high-k/SiO₂ interface [24] leading to dipoles of larger magnitude and greater shifts in threshold voltage, potentially assisting in the creation of a normally off device.

A final practical aspect that could be explored is the frequency response of the designs suggested in this work, particularly designs with multiple gate oxides. The frequency response of these devices will be particularly interesting due to the Maxwell-Wagner polarization effect. The Maxwell-Wagner instability model states that for a stack of two different dielectrics, the final state of the electric field in each when a given voltage is applied is not proportional to the dielectric constant of each, but rather is determined such that the current density through each is equal [27]. This means that charge must accumulate at the interface until this condition is met. This charge takes some time to accumulate, known as the relaxation time, and thus as frequency increases this effect may become more and more important and exaggerated and may affect the device's response. A good model for this effect and how it is affected by frequency is presented in [28] and its effects would likely be interesting in a MOSHEMT with multiple gate oxides.

In conclusion, there is still a great deal of work and improvement to be done to perfect the GaN based HEMT. This thesis has suggested specific design choices to move towards a normally off MOSHEMT. Combined with other design and fabrication techniques, a normally off transistor certainly seems attainable. Such a transistor will be invaluable in the world of modern electronics for creating small,

efficient, fast, and high power electronic devices.

Bibliography

- N. S. Kim et al., "Leakage current: Moore's law meets static power," in Computer, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 68-75, Dec. 2003.
- del Alamo, J. A., "The High-Electron Mobility Transistor at 30: impressive accomplishments and exciting prospects." Invited Plenary Session talk at International Conference on Compound Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology (CS MANTECH), Palm Springs, CA, May 16-19, 2011, pp. 17-22.
- [3] Sippel, Jonathan, "A physics-based analytical model of an AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistor" (2004). Thesis. Rochester Institute of Technology.
- [4] G. Longobardi et al., "Modelling 2DEG charges in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures," CAS 2012 (International Semiconductor Conference), Sinaia, 2012, pp. 363-366.
- [5] T R Lenka and A. K Panda, "Characteristics study of 2DEG transport properties of AlGaN/GaN and AlGaAs/GaAs based HEMT," Semiconductors, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 660-665, 2011.
- [6] E.T. Yu, et al., "Schottky barrier engineering in III-V nitrides via the piezoelectric effect", Appl. Phys. Lett., 73, p. 1880, 1998
- [7] Eller, B. S., Yang, J., & Nemanich, R. J. (2013). Electronic surface and dielectric interface states on GaN and AlGaN. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces and Films*, 31(5), [050807].
- [8] M. Esposto, S. Krishnamoorthy, D. N. Nath, S. Bajaj, T.-H. Hung and S. Rajan, "Electrical properties of atomic layer deposited aluminum oxide on gallium nitride", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 99, no. 13, pp. 133503-1-133503-3, 2011
- [9] C. J. Kirkpatrick, B. Lee, R. Suri, X. Yang and V. Misra, "Atomic Layer Deposition of SiO₂ for AlGaN/GaN MOS-HFETs," in *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 1240-1242, Sept. 2012.
- [10] Pandey D, Lenka TR. Model development for analyzing 2DEG sheet charge density and threshold voltage considering interface DOS for AlInN/GaN MOSHEMT. J. Semicond. 2014; 35(10):104001-1–4
- [11] Tapajna M. and Kuzmik J., "A comprehensive analytical model for threshold voltage calculation in GaN based metal-oxide-semiconductor high-electron-mobility transistors," Nov. 2011.
- [12] R Swain, J Panda, K Jena, TR Lenka, "Modeling and simulation of oxide dependent 2DEG sheet charge density in AlGaN/GaN MOSHEMT". Journal of Computational Electronics, 2015
- [13] S. Ganguly, J. Verma, G. Li, T. Zimmermann, H. Xing, and D. Jena, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99, 193504 (2011).
- [14] T.-H. Hung, S. Krishnamoorthy, M. Esposto, D. Neelim Nath, P. Sung Park and S. Rajan, "Interface charge engineering at atomic layer deposited dielectric/III-nitride interfaces", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 102, no. 7, pp. 072105-1-072105-4, 2013
- [15] T.-H. Hung, P. S. Park, S. Krishnamoorthy, D. N. Nath and S. Rajan, "Interface charge engineering for enhancement-mode GaN MISHEMTs", IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 312-314, 2014

- [16] M.H. Wong, F. Wu, J. S. Speck, and U. K. Mishra, J. Appl. Phys. 108, 123710 (2010)
- [17] T.-H. Hung, M. Esposto and S. Rajan, "Interfacial charge effects on electron transport in III-nitride metal insulator semiconductor transistors", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 99, no. 16, pp. 162104-1-162104-3, 2011
- [18] M. Tapajna, J. Kuzmk, "Control of threshold voltage in GaN based MOS HEMTs towards the normally-off operation." Japan. J. App. Phys., vol. 52, 08JN08, 2013.
- [19] Singh, Jasprit. Electronic and Optoelectronic Properties of Semiconductor Structures. 1st ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003. Cambridge Books Online. Web. 03 May 2016.
- [20] Zhu, D., Wallis, D. J. & Humphreys, C. J. Prospects of III-nitride optoelectronics grown on Si. Rep. Prog. Phys. 76, 106501 (2013).
- [21] D. Xu *et al.*, "0.1-um Atomic Layer Deposition Al2O3 Passivated InAlN/GaN High Electron-Mobility Transistors for E-Band Power Amplifiers," in *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 442-444, May 2015.
- [22] H. Kai, W. Xiaolei, Y. Hong, W. Wenwu, "Electric dipole formation at high-k dielectric/SiO2 interface." Journal of Semiconductors. Vol. 36, No. 3, March 2015
- [23] Kita Koji, Toriumi Akira. Intrinsic origin of electric dipoles formed at high-k/SiO2 interface. In: IEDM Tech. Dig.; 2008. p. 29–32.
- [24] K. Shimura, R. Kunugi, A. Ogura, S. Satoh, J. Fei, K. Kita, T. Watanabe, "Positive and negative dipole layer formation at high-k/SiO2 interfaces simulated by classical molecular dynamics." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 55, 04EB03 (2016)
- [25] Kunihiko Iwamoto, Kuuichi Kamimuta, Arito Ogawa, Yukimune Watanabe, Shinji Migita, Wataru Mizubayashi, Yukinori Morita, Masashi Takahashi, Hiroyuki Ota, Toshihide Nabatame, and Akira Toriumi, "Experimental evidence for the flatband voltage shift of high-k metal-oxidesemiconductor devices due to the dipole formation at the high-k/SiO2 interface," Applied Physics Letters, Vol. 92, No. 13, pp. 132907, April, 2008.
- [26] P. Huang, Z. C. Yang and Paul K. Chu (2010). Hafnium-based High-k Gate Dielectrics, Advances in Solid State Circuit Technologies, Paul K Chu (Ed.), InTech, DOI: 10.5772/8631.
- [27] D. K. Schroder, Electrical Characterization of Defects in Gate Dielectrics, 2009, CRCPress
- [28] Von, Hippel A. R. Dielectrics and Waves. New York: Wiley, 1954. Print

Mark J. Dipsey Jr. was born on April 3, 1993 to Carolyn Dipsey and Mark Dipsey Sr. After growing up in Fairfield, NJ and graduating from West Essex High School, Mark attended Lehigh University. Mark was a member of the Chi Phi Fraternity and studied Electrical Engineering, attaining a B.S. in May 2015. Thanks to the President's Scholarship, Mark continued for a fifth year at Lehigh and is graduating with a M.S. in Electrical Engineering in May 2016. He plans to go on to begin a career working for Texas Instruments as a Failure Analysis Engineer in Bethlehem, PA.